# No. 331229

# WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III



DEC 0 3 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NEIL HORNSBY, Appellant

v.

ALCOA Inc., Respondent

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Julie A. Anderson WSBA #15214
Attorney for Appellant Neil Hornsby
409 N. Mission | Wenatchee, WA 98801
Phone509-663-0635
fax 509 662-9328
Julie.anderson@jaallaw.net

# **

#### A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## 1. Procedural History

Neil Hornsby filed a Notice of Appeal from the a final decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, which affirmed the Department of Industrial Insurance order denying Mr. Hornsby labor and industry benefits for lung disease. Mr. Hornsby had alleged that he contracted lung disease from exposure to aluminum in the pot rooms at the Wenatchee Alcoa Works in Malaga, WA. CP 2-5. After a trial in the Superior Court of Chelan County, the Honorable Judge Small upheld the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals decision denying Mr. Hornsby benefits for an occupational disease. CP 245-246. Mr. Hornsby moved for reconsideration. CP 255-261. That motion was denied. CP 263-265. Mr. Hornsby timely appealed to the Court of Appeals, Div. III. CP 266-272.

The superior court judge gave an oral decision, denying Mr. Hornsby's claim for industrial insurance benefits on October 3, 2014

after hearing oral arguments of counsel. See Verbatim Report of Proceedings. On page 60 of the judge's oral decision, the judge stated that he relied on Dr. Lodhi's opinion that "his lung disease has an established relationship with smoking to DIP and the possibility of aluminum-induced lung disease may be a contributing factor, and I think that's the best description of all of this evidence. Dr. Lodhi summarized that after she's seen both reports from Dr. Abraham. And I thinkd Dr. Abraham, frankly, would agree with that if he was pushed to answer the question that he never did." Dr. Lodhi did not testify before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. (See entire Board Transcript, including depositions.

## 2. Statement Of Facts

#### A. NEIL HORNSBY

The Claimant, Neil Hornsby, worked 8-9 years at Burcks just before he started with Alcoa in 2000. RP 4. Before that he worked at Babcock Auto Wrecking did auto part dismantling from 1998-2000. RP 6.

In July of 2000 he started working at Alcoa as a carbon setter.

Carbon setting is where you set carbons in the pots, pull them out, reset them, help tap the metal aluminum into the bath.

In 2000, Alcoa did a chest x-ray on Hornsby and all he had was a couple of nodules. Mr. Hornsby was tested by Alcoa at the beginning of

his employment for physical agility and passed with "flying colors." Page 58. He was also given a medical exam including a urine test, x-ray and physical agility test and he did not have any health problems. RP 59-61.

There was no indication that he had any diseases or health problems at the beginning of his employment. RP Page 61. Exhibit #4 was admitted. It was a respiratory questionnaire and pulmonary function test from Alcoa. In 2001 they were not noting any problems with Mr. Hornsby's respiratory system. Page 81.

He worked drilling siphons, and rolling bridges. Neil Hornsby was also on the "burn-off crew," pulling burn offs. RP 8.

When he was first hired in he was not fit tested for a respirator. RP 83.

Hornsby also operated a crane, at Alcoa from 2000-2002. During curtailment, Hornsby was also exposed to a bunch of dust vacuuming out pots during curtailment. RP104. He left because shut down the plant. RP 9. Neil Hornsby's date of separation was 5-21-2002, and his date of return was 7-21-2003. RP 80. Alcoa was non-producing plant during curtailment. RP 43-44.

Neil Hornsby testified that different areas at Alcoa the employees were not aware that they should have been wearing respirators. Alcoa did not require the respirators and he was not informed that it was necessary to wear respirators from 2000-2002. RP 28.

During his layoff from Alcoa he worked for Deserado Mining Company, in Rangely, Colorado. They were mining coal in the summer of 2002. He did pre-employment tests, and they also took x-rays. RP 10 – 11. He was labeled as having "black lung" in mining, at pre-employment medical tests at Deserado. He was not labeled until <u>after</u> working at Alcoa. Page 11.

Neil Hornsby broke his hand at Deserado so he only worked a short time at mine – about a week and a half to two weeks. The rest of the time he did not work in the mine. He only worked a total of 3 weeks for Deserado Mines. Neil Hornsby went back to Alcoa in 2003, as a utility laborer doing anything in pot rooms. RP 12 - 13.

In 2003 there were no indications that Hornsby was suffering from any kind of disease. RP 76-77. Alcoa did health status reports. RP 77-78.Neil Hornsby had no physical limitations when he came back in 2003. He started having health problems in 2005-2006. He experienced fatigue. At first the doctors didn't know what was wrong with him. RP 26. He was labeled with IBS –irritable bowel syndrome. RP 27. Alcoa sent Neil Hornsby to its own doctors and nurses. RP 76. On 7/29/03 he was examined by nurses rather than doctors at the Alcoa site.

On February 5, 2004, he was fit tested for a respirator, and he passed. RP 86.

In approximately 2005, Neil Hornsby collapsed on the job at Alcoa from exhaustion and dehydration. He had been on light duty for 45 days or 60 days and collapsed after returning to full duty. RP 62. He had another serious incident involving fatigue at Alcoa. RP 64. Up until 2005 Neil Hornsby was not having problems doing his job at Alcoa. RP 68. He had a heat stress incident in August of 2005. RP 69.

Dr. Johnson had a written note describing that Hornsby had an incident of sudden and general fatigue on 9/5/07 which was the second incident. RP 70. He was given IV's for dehydration and heat stress. Heat was the same as in 2000-2002 and 2003-2007. RP 72. He had not had an incident of heat stroke requiring medical attention prior to 2005. RP 74.

In 2005-2006 he was diagnosed with fatigue and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). RP 114. He took pulmonary function tests on 8/8/07 and 9/5/07. RP 115.

Later he took a job in the pot tender pool, probably in 2005-2006. A pot tender also works in a pot room. He worked in first, second, third, and fifth line. RP 15.

Dawn Jessup did the reports on 4/10/2007. He was put on light duty on that date. RP 78. In 2007 he wasn't having trouble

wearing a respirator. RP 83-84. See also RP.116 Dawn Jessup did those tests. From time to time Alcoa gave Mr. Hornsby breathing tests. On 8/8/07 those tests showed that his breathing was restricted. RP 84. On August 8, 2007 Mr. Hornsby was notified that he had mild restrictions, but he continued to wear a respirator. RP 85.

He changed his job to head tapper, carbon setter. A head tapper taps the metal physically into a big siphon and puts it in the pot and taps the liquid aluminum out on 5<sup>th</sup> line. RP 14.

The workers on all the pot lines have the same type of hazardous exposures to chemicals and elements in the Alcoa workplace. Hornsby also ran the crane and was crane certified.

He would put up aluminum ore in the hoppers. Hoppers are on top of the pots, and that is process of making aluminum. RP 16.

Lots of minerals are used to make aluminum – bauxite, aluminum, aluminum ore, pure ore. Mr. Hornsby said, "There's so many different things we are exposed to out there. It's in the air all the time. "Neil was personally using those elements in doing his job. RP 17.

The crane Neil Hornsby worked on was an open-air crane; it was not self-contained, covered and closed. He also worked as a

crane operator. Page 108. He worked on both types of cranes. RP 109.

Mr. Hornsby explained, "The problem we have with all those different elements, the bauxite, the aluminum, and everything, there's a constant air flow that goes underneath the pots to keep the bottom of the pots cool, from tap-outs, from heating. You've got windows open up above on top of the pot rooms, and so there's a constant air flow, a turbulence, and everything is airborne, all over, all the time." RP 18-19. There is molten, very hot liquid in the pots. It is "liquid metal." RP 19.

Mr. Hornsby had no problems performing any of the pot room duties when he first started at Alcoa. It required a lot of physical strength, Page 24. He was often lifting over 100 pounds. RP 25.

During fit testing the employees wore the 6000 respirator on their faces and tested for size and make sure that there was a good fit for their face. The 6000 is the name of the respirator. RP 29.

When Mr. Hornsby first started working with Alcoa, Alcoa did not have the 6000's yet. When he first started he didn't have a respirator. They just had the paper hog-nose mask with a paper filter. Around 2005 he believed he was first fit tested at Alcoa.

Alcoa became more consistent about having respirators. <u>During</u> curtailment the employees didn't have the respirators from 2002-2003. RP 29.

Even when respirators were available a lot of times there were no cartridges available for them – the stores were out of them, non-existent. The purpose of the cartridges was to <u>filter</u>. RP 30. Even on the days the respirators were available, there were times during the day when Mr. Hornsby was not wearing them, like during lunch or if he was a certain distance from the bake pots.

The Alcoa workers wore Tyvex suits for pot lining from approximately 2006-2007. RP 31. The suits were of poor quality and told to "duct tape the seams," because they weren't completely sealed. The Tyvex suits were lying all around the plant – not in a clean facility – so everything was contaminated. Suits were right out in the pot rooms. RP 32. There were other suits, atmospheric suits which were sealed but Alcoa did not provide those suits with superior protection. Mr. Hornsby saw them only in catalogs. RP 33.Tyvex suits were not air-tight so particles could get inside the suits, got burns from soda ash on his body. RP 34-35. Tyvex suits used only when he was doing pot chipping and he did that 7-8 times over a period of five months. RP 118.

Workers wore the paper masks when they could find them.

RP 119.The paper masks M3 8576 were one of types of masks used. Hornsby did not wear the paper masks all the time. They did not wear them when they were eating lunch or standing around or when job duties weren't being performed. RP 119-121. He didn't wear a mask while rolling bridges. RP 121.

He wore masks when they were available. They were not required to wear masks in the cranes. The closed cranes had filtration supposedly. Even the paper masks were not always available. Page 123. He wore respiratory protection when the jobs required him to. RP 124. He didn't wear a mask while taking breaks, or eating lunch, or rolling bridges. Page 134. When they were taking breaks and not wearing a mask they were still exposed to dust in the plant. When the proper PPE was required, he wore it if it was available. Alcoa did not inform workers of the effects of alumina or any other materials. He never had a safety violation. Page 136.

Neil Hornsby started smoking at age 16, pack to pack and a half each day. He testified that there were times when he quit for 2-3 years. RP 111. At times in 2003 he reported that he smoked ¾ a pack 7/28/03. RP 112.

For three years he quit. There were days at Alcoa where he might take one drag of a cigarette and then have to go back to work. RP 113. So he wasn't actually smoking the whole pack; he was taking a puff and throwing the rest of the cigarette away. RP 133.

Mr. Hornsby also explained that the environment of Alcoa did contain some of the same hazardous exposures as welding.

When a pot goes on high voltage sometimes arcing occurs, which causes a gas similar to welding even if you are not a "welder" per se. RP 126, 135.

He was exposed to hazardous chemicals and toxins when he was doing the pot chipping job. RP 129. When he worked in open cranes over the pots, he was also exposed to air borne dust. RP 130.

Aluminum and everything else is blowing around in the pot rooms. There are huge fans under the pots to keep them cool and it blows dust around the room. When he would be working in the crane poring stuff in the hoppers, there are particulates flying around. RP 131.

Mr. Hornsby bid into pot lines at Alcoa because it was not as physical as the head tapper position. He started to have problems

with missing work. He filed for FMLA because he started missing a lot of days towards the end of his employment. RP 36. Mr. Hornsby left Alcoa for good in 2008. He left to go to a job in Alaska on the pipeline. Mr. Hornsby was getting tired all the time. RP 35-36.

Prior to the termination of his employment in 2008, he was given a pulmonary test and hearing test, and he failed. He was given another test, and he failed again, those results were not anywhere in his employment or medical records. RP 87.

His absentee records were admitted. See Exhibit #6. RP 91. After 2005 he started missing days at work. RP 92. Neil Hornsby submitted his resignation notice on 4-16-2008. RP 94. Neil Hornsby went up to be a camp manager in Alaska. He did not have hazardous exposures at camp. He only worked from July to November because his health was deteriorating and cold was getting to him, so he ended that employment. RP 38. He returned to Washington State in 2009. RP 39.

His health continued to decline. He saw Dr. Houghland at WVC and during the MRI they found out that he had lung issues, so Dr. Houghland referred him to Dr. Lodhi, a pulmonary specialist at W.V.C. RP 40.

Dr. Lodhi referred him to Dr. Raghu at the University of Washington. A biopsy was taken of his lung by surgeon Dr. Knox at the WVC, which lasted an hour and a half longer than they thought it would be because the damage to his lungs was more severe than what they had thought. RP 41.

Biopsies were not taken from the bottom of his lungs. Dr. Raghu had questions about the cause of the damage so he had the biopsies sent to Dr. Abraham. Page 42.So Dr. Raghu had the biopsies sent to Dr. Abraham at SUNY University in Syracuse, New York. Pages 45-46. Before his biopsies were sent, his diagnosis was interstitial lung disease. The primary substance found in his lungs by Dr. Abraham was massive exposure to aluminum. RP 46.

Aluminum was the primary substance. No additional biopsies were taken yet of the rest of his lungs because of the health risk to Mr. Hornsby. Neil Hornsby recognized advice from medical providers to quit smoking.

RP 47. Neil Hornsby, said that he was trying to quit smoking because he can't have a lung transplant until he quits for 6 months. RP 48.

Mr. Hornsby was put on steroids for a time as a lung treatment. RP 49. Since Dr. Abraham's report, they discontinued those treatments. He was prescribed oxygen at night, 5 liters. 6 is the maximum and he is at 5 right now. He receives the oxygen from canyul through his nose. RP 50.

Mr. Hornsby also tried physical therapy at CWH, but Mr. Hornsby collapsed. At UW they had him walk up a flight of stairs and he collapsed during the test. He collapsed after four flights (they wanted him to do 8 flights). He was below 83% oxygen saturation in his blood. RP 51.

#### B. DR. ABRAHAM

Dr. Abraham obtained his undergraduate degree in Life Sciences or biology in 1966. University of California Medical School MA degree in 1970.

Page 3. Dr. Abraham's CV was admitted into evidence. See Exhibit List, CP\_\_\_\_\_ and Clerk's minutes regarding the superior court's DECISION dated October 3, 2014. See Exhibit 18. Following that, Dr. Abraham did an internship in pathology as a specialty at Children's Hospital in Boston and at Beth Israel Hospital in Boston. (A CV was attached to the Deposition EXHIBITS.)

/Telephonic Perpetuator Deposition of Jerrold L. Abraham, MD, pages 3-4.

Hereinafter, JA Page ).

Dr. Abraham had 168 publications listed. Within pathology he had a main area of interest in occupational diseases, especially lung disease and the methods to analyze and characterize dust and other particles in people's lungs. JA Page 5.

He used a process called x-ray spectroscopy to look at tissue samples.

With this process particles and foreign materials can be identified. The technique is called "SEM/EDS." JA Page 6 Dr. Abraham has been involved in finding better ways to utilize that kind of analytical technique to help characterize tissues

and what is in tissues such as dust particles. JA Page 7. This technique has been used to identify particles in lungs such as silica, aluminum silicates, various metals such as aluminum and titanium, etc. SEM/EDS were first developed in the 1960's. Dr. Abraham has been testifying in various courts about this technology for many years. JA Page 7.

With respect to Neil Hornsby's case, Dr. Abraham did two reports. Dr. Raghu at the University of Washington had Mr. Hornsby's biopsies sent to Dr. Abraham in New York. First he analyzed the biopsies with a glass microscope and determined that they were abnormal. Dr. Abraham saw areas of fibrosis, and he saw the filling of air spaces with macrophage cells. There was dust visible. Some of it was consistent with smoking and some of it was consistent with other exposures that did not come from smoking. JA Page 8.

In the second report, Dr. Abraham analyzed the particles in Neil Hornsby's biopsies using the SEM/EDS method. JA Page 8.

The biopsies were taken from the right middle lobe and the right lower lobe, superior segment. In his first report, Dr. Abraham noticed that there was evidence of respiratory bronchiolitis, related to smoking in some degree, and also of Desquamative Interstitial Pneumonia, abbreviated "DIP". There was also evidence of interstitial fibrosis and scarring in the supporting structure of the lung. It showed lymphocytes and plasma cells. JA Page 12.

Most of the macrophages contained dust particles of the type seen with smoking, and there were also some that were opaque that were <u>different</u>, <u>dark</u> particles. Pages JA 12-13. Some of the particles were birefringent or crystalline particles that show up as bright when one uses polarized light were used. Page 13.

The opaque and birefringent particles were indicative of exposures to something more than just smoking. Dr. Abraham could distinguish the difference in the particles from many years of experience. JA Page 13.

Respiratory bronchiolitis is the very smallest tubes or airways in the lung which the air travels. "Itis" means inflammation, so respiratory bronchiolitis refers to some inflammation involving the smallest airways. Macrophages are a type of cell that has the capability to surround and ingest smaller cells or dust particles or bacteria, for example. Macrophages means "big eater." Some describe these like PacMan type of cells. JA Page 14.

Desquamative Interstitial Pneumonia (DIP) is a lung disease where the lung air spaces are filled with macrophages. JA Page 14. A person with DIP has cells that are <u>abnormally accumulating</u> in the air spaces of the lungs. This abnormal accumulation can cause problems with breathing if it is severe enough. Air can't normally reach the capillaries that are the walls of the air sacs, so a person doesn't get enough oxygen and the person will be short of breath. JA Page 15.

The interstitum of the lung is the supporting framework the walls of the air spaces and the tissues supporting the airways and vessels. Fibrosis means scarring, the formation of extra collagen or scar tissue. Fibrosis, the scarring, is not normally present. When a pathologist diagnoses fibrosis, it means there is an abnormal amount of scar tissue or collagen. JA Page 16.

Dr. Abraham requested the paraffin blocks from Neil Hornsby's biopsy so that he could perform SEM/EDS, because that procedure cannot be done with glass slides alone. JA Page 17.

Dr. Abraham received Blocks A1 and B1. The SEM/EDS analysis was the subject of Dr. Abraham's second report on November 12, 2012. The analysis showed a large number of particles in Block A1. Ninety percent of the particles in Block A1 contained very fine aluminum metal. JA Page 18.

In addition to aluminum, there were a large number of aluminum silicate particles. The presence of tiny aluminum particles is not something found in the general population. The lung burden with respect to aluminum particles was definitely abnormal. Dr. Abraham testified that a smoker who had not been exposed to aluminum would not show a markedly abnormal lung burden of aluminum metal or aluminum oxide particles. JA Page 19.

Dr. Abraham stated that it was likely that there were other, even, smaller particles of aluminum in Mr. Hornsby's lungs, but the SEM/EDS method can only

detect particles which are 1/10<sup>th</sup> of a micrometer or larger. A micrometer is a millionth of a meter or a thousandth of a millimeter. JA Pages 19-20.

Dr. Abraham testified that there are published articles about the exposure of aluminum and other materials in pot rooms where aluminum is being refined or extracted from the ore. JA Page 20.

A 21- page power point was marked as an exhibit to the deposition, containing photographs of the particles in Mr. Hornsby's lungs. JA Page 21. The directions to understand the photographs were discussed at, Pages JA 22-29 of Dr. Abraham's deposition. JA Pages 22-23. See also Exhibit 18.

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