KIL, KI

DEC 28 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

# No. 331229

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

NEIL HORNSBY, Appellant,

v.

ALCOA INC., Respondent.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CHELAN COUNTY THE HONORABLE T.W. SMALL

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WALLACE, KLOR & MANN, P.C. LAWRENCE E. MANN REBECCA WAREHAM PORTLOCK Attorneys for Respondent Alcoa Inc.

By Rebecca Wareham Portlock, WSBA#45939 Attorney at Law 5800 Meadows Road, Suite 220 Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 (503) 224-8949 *rportlock@wallaceklormann.com* 

# **

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

#### **ARGUMENT IN REPONSE**

#### Summary of Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 1

The superior court did not err in sustaining and affirming the Board's January 23, 2014 order that affirmed the Department of Labor and Industries order of February 22, 2012.

#### Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 1

#### **Standards of Review**

The appellate court reviews the decision of the superior court (an appellate court in the context of an industrial injury claim) and the Board *de novo*, but solely based on the evidence and testimony presented to the Board. RCW 51.52.115; *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998).

Statutory construction is a question of law and is reviewed *de novo. Stuckey v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 129 Wn.2d 289, 295, 916 P.2d 399 (1996). The primary goal of statutory construction is to implement legislative intent. *Rozner v. City of Bellevue*, 116 Wn.2d 342, 347, 804 P.2d 24 (1991). If a statute is plain and unambiguous its meaning must be primarily derived from the language of the statute. *Dep't of Transp. v. State Employees' Ins. Bd.*, 97 Wn.2d 454, 458, 645 P.2d 1076 (1982).

#### III.

On appellate review, the findings and decision of the Board shall be *prima facie* correct. RCW 51.52.115; *Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 34 Wn.2d 498, 504, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949), overruled on other grounds Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 323 P.2d 241 (1958); *Jepson v Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 89 Wn.2d 394, 401, 573 P.2d 10 (1977). On appellate review, if the evidence is equally balanced then the findings of the Board must stand. *Garrett Freightliners, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 45 Wn. App. 335, 339, 725 P.2d 463 (1986).

Mr. Hornsby has failed to present sufficient evidence to overcome the presumption the findings of the Board, as affirmed by the superior court, are *prima facie* correct. The superior court did not err in sustaining and affirming the Board's January 23, 2014 order.

# Summary of Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 2

The superior court did not err in adopting the Board's Finding of Fact #4 which states: "Mr. Hornsby's conditions diagnosed as desquamative interstitial pneumonia, respiratory bronchiolitis, and interstitial fibrosis did not arise naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of his employment."

# Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 2

In order to meet his burden of proof in this appeal, Mr. Hornsby must prove by a preponderance of evidence his pulmonary condition is an

occupational disease, defined as "such disease or infection arising naturally and proximately out of employment." RCW 51.08.140. The two main elements of arising naturally and proximately are analyzed separately by the fact finder.

To arise naturally means the disease occurs naturally out of the distinct conditions of a claimant's employment. To show a distinct condition, the claimant must prove the disease was caused by conditions of his or her particular occupation, as opposed to conditions coincidentally occurring in the work place. The claimant must also prove the particular work conditions of his employment more probably caused the disease than conditions of everyday life or all employment in general.

Once Mr. Hornsby has established the distinctive conditions of his employment he must prove those distinctive conditions proximately caused his pulmonary condition, diagnosed as desquamative interstitial pneumonia, respiratory bronchiolitis, and interstitial fibrosis. The proximately element requires the disease to be "probably" as opposed to "possibly" caused by the employment. Causation must be established by competent medical evidence. *McClelland v. ITT Rayonier, 65 Wn. App. 386 (1992).* This requires medical testimony specifically linking the distinct employment conditions to the end result. *In re Beverly Donahue*, Dckt. No. 96 3839 (1998).

Mr. Hornsby called four separate medical experts to testify on his behalf before the Board, three of whom treated him at various points in time for his pulmonary condition. Of those four experts, only Dr. Abraham provided any comment on the question of whether Mr. Hornsby's occupational exposure proximately caused his desquamative interstitial pneumonitis, respiratory bronchiolitis, and interstitial fibrosis.

Dr. Abraham never met Mr. Hornsby. Dr. Abraham never spoke directly with Mr. Hornsby or performed a physical examination of him. Dr. Abraham does not treat patients. Dr. Abraham's opinion is based almost entirely on second-hand information regarding Mr. Hornsby's social and employment history. It is significant that Mr. Hornsby's own treating physicians, the doctors who actually spoke with and examined him, did not support his assertion that his pulmonary condition was caused by an occupational exposure.

To compensate for his failure to manufacture more than one supporting opinion, Mr. Hornsby makes the dubious claim Dr. Abraham should be treated as his attending physician, and as such, his opinion should be given "special consideration" as prescribed by *Hamilton v*. *Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 761 P.2d 618 (1988). Dr. Abraham is clearly a consulting expert, not an attending physician. His opinion is entitled to no "special consideration."

The history of Dr. Abraham's involvement shows he was consulted by Mr. Hornsby's actual attending physician, Dr. Raghu, to evaluate Mr. Hornsby's lung biopsy in late 2012. Dr. Abraham was not consulted until several months after Mr. Hornsby filed his appeal of the Department order denying his claim. Mr. Hornsby argues because Dr. Abraham was consulted by Dr. Raghu, he should be considered an attending physician.

Mr. Hornsby's argument distorts *Hamilton* beyond recognition. Dr. Abraham has never seen or rendered any type of treatment to Mr. Hornsby. He was consulted after this appeal was filed for the sole purpose of providing a supporting opinion regarding the cause of Mr. Hornsby's pulmonary condition. He is clearly not an attending physician by any stretch of the imagination. Accordingly, the Board and superior court did not afford Dr. Abraham's opinion any special consideration.

On October 17, 2012 Dr. Abraham performed an analysis of Mr. Hornsby's lung tissue biopsy using light microscopy. [CP--Abraham, p. 8]. Dr. Abraham testified Mr. Hornsby's initial biopsy test results were abnormal with findings consistent with cigarette smoking. [CP--Abraham, p. 13]. Dr. Abraham completed a supplemental pathology report on November 12, 2012 following analysis of Mr. Hornsby's lung tissue with a scanning electron microscope. Dr. Abraham stated he saw various metallic particles in Mr. Hornsby's lung tissue. [CP--Abraham, p. 18].

Dr. Abraham stated the aluminum particles seen in Mr. Hornsby's biopsy were comparable to the type seen in several remote studies of workers in different industrial settings who had developed desquamative interstitial pneumonitis and interstitial fibrosis. Dr. Abraham also stated Mr. Hornsby's respiratory bronchiolitis was more likely associated with smoking, which he stated was different from the fibrosis or the desquamative interstitial pneumonitis pattern. [CP--Abraham, pp. 32-33].

None of Mr. Hornsby's other medical experts endorsed Dr. Abraham's opinion regarding the cause of Mr. Hornsby's respiratory condition. In contrast, Drs. Simons and Cox confirmed the presence of aluminum particles in a patient's lungs does not necessarily result in the development of interstitial lung disease or pulmonary fibrosis.

Dr. Simons, a prominent and widely-respected practicing pulmonologist with over 25 years of experience in evaluating and treating complex lung diseases, directly addressed Dr. Abraham's observation of the presence of aluminum metals in Mr. Hornsby's lung biopsy. Dr. Simons testified the mere presence of aluminum particles in the lung tissue does not amount to credible medical evidence that the particles proximately caused any pathological disease. [CP--Simons, p. 24]. Dr. Simons opined Mr. Hornsby's condition clearly presented as a typical case of a smoker who developed desquamative interstitial pneumonia.

Dr. Simons addressed Dr. Abraham's citation of various case studies regarding heavy metal exposure and desquamative interstitial pneumonia, noting the studies themselves were not definitive. Dr. Simons affirmed there is no evidence to support the fact the aluminum is causing any physical condition or reaction. [CP--Simons, p. 25].

Dr. Cox also concluded Mr. Hornsby's lung conditions were not related to any exposure in the course of his employment with Alcoa Inc. on a more probable than not basis. [CP--Cox, pp. 47-49]. His opinion was based on radiographic evidence that Mr. Hornsby's lung condition had manifested prior to his employment at Alcoa Inc., and it continued to worsen unabated after his employment at Alcoa Inc. ended. Dr. Cox concluded Mr. Hornsby's desquamative interstitial pneumonia and pulmonary fibrosis resulted from his extensive smoking history.

The time line of Mr. Hornsby's medical treatment supports a finding that his progressive pulmonary decline is attributable entirely to his lifelong smoking habit, a habit which continues to the present. Mr. Hornsby had many small abnormal nodules in his lungs as early as 2000, prior to the beginning of his employment at Alcoa Inc. At that point, he had been a regular smoker for nearly 18 years. Mr. Hornsby did not begin actively treating for his lung condition until two years after his employment at Alcoa Inc. ended in 2008. Even in the absence of any

occupational exposure, Mr. Hornsby's lung condition has continued to worsen as he persists in habitual ingestion of toxic cigarette smoke against medical advice.

The medical testimony unequivocally establishes the fact desquamative interstitial pneumonia is a condition overwhelmingly associated with cigarette smoking. This is a conclusion supported by all the testifying medical experts, including Dr. Abraham.

The preponderance of medical and factual evidence shows Mr. Hornsby's conditions diagnosed as desquamative interstitial pneumonia, respiratory bronchiolitis, and interstitial fibrosis did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of his employment.

#### Summary of Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 3

The superior court did not err in adopting the Board's Conclusion of Law #2, which states: "Mr. Hornsby's conditions diagnosed as desquamative interstitial pneumonia, respiratory bronchiolitis, and interstitial fibrosis is not an occupational disease within the meaning of RCW 51.08.140."

///

///

#### Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 3

As outlined herein, the medical evidence is clear that Mr. Hornsby's lifelong and ongoing smoking habit severely damaged his lungs and impaired his respiratory function. Each of Mr. Hornsby's definitive diagnoses, desquamative interstitial pneumonia, respiratory bronchiolitis and interstitial fibrosis, can be explained by his extensive smoking history, independent of any other external exposure. While the evidence regarding the effects of Mr. Hornsby's smoking is clear, he has failed to produce the requisite medical evidence that his occupational exposure caused or contributed to his respiratory condition.

Mr. Hornsby cites *Intalco Aluminum v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 66 Wn.App. 644, 833 P.2d 390 (Wash. App. 1992), in support of his contention that his occupational disease claim should be allowed. However, *Intalco* and subsequent decisions by the Board applying *Intalco* have affirmed the fact an occupational disease claim will not be allowed solely on the basis of evidence of occupational exposure, particularly where the evidence is equivocal on causation.

In the Board decision *In re Gary L. Jackson*, Dckt. No. 96 2274 (March 23, 1998), the Board addressed a case factually similar to the case at bar, in which occupational and non-occupational factors were identified as potentially causative agents of Mr. Jackson's lung condition. In *Jackson*, the claimant was a 32-year-old non-smoker who worked as a

warehouse foreman for Interstate Batteries. Mr. Jackson alleged he was exposed to sulfuric acid, pyrolysis, and mist given off when charging batteries throughout his workday. Mr. Jackson subsequently developed interstitial lung fibrosis which he attributed to his occupational exposure. Mr. Jackson was also diagnosed with hypersensitivity pneumonia, which his doctors attributed to the five birds he kept in his home over the course of eight years. Mr. Jackson's claim was denied by the Department.

The Board acknowledged Mr. Jackson's complex medical records and diagnostic studies showed the presence of bird proteins, as well as other findings that arguably were not explained by avian exposure alone. The Board ultimately concluded Mr. Jackson did not show but for his exposures to sulfuric acid mist and pyrolysis fumes, he would not have developed his interstitial pneumonitis or hypersensitivity pneumonitis. The Board noted while the record strongly pointed to the birds in the home as the likely or probable cause of his condition, it was also possible Mr. Jackson had a more serious interstitial disease from unknown causes. However, he failed to produce a preponderance of evidence that his lung condition arose naturally and proximately as a result of his occupational exposure.

The *Intalco* holding was further developed in the Board decision *In re Robert O. Johnson*, Dckt. No. 03 17852 (July 12, 2005), particularly on

the question of the role of medical studies in establishing causation. In *Johnson*, the claimant alleged he had developed Parkinson's disease as a result of the distinctive conditions of his employment in the printing industry. The Board affirmed the Department order which denied the claim for an occupational disease, finding insufficient evidence linking Mr. Johnson's occupational solvent exposure to his Parkinson's disease on a more probable than not basis.

In *Johnson*, the Board noted there was evidence in the medical literature correlating environmental exposure to the development of Parkinson's disease; however, the Board also noted the literature was conflicting and correlation did not equate to causation.

In the present case, Dr. Abraham relied heavily on three medical articles to bolster his opinion regarding the cause of Mr. Hornsby's pulmonary condition. In *Johnson*, the Board stated in order to support causation on a more-probable-than-not basis, the medical literature would have to include many consistent studies showing a temporal connection between the occupational exposure and the development of the condition alleged, within an established latency period. The Board found Mr. Johnson's experts had not produced sufficient evidence in the medical literature to support their opinions regarding causation.

In the present case, the scant literature relied upon by Dr. Abraham and indeed his very conclusions, suffer from the same defect of conflating correlation and causation. The superior court noted some of the "studies" upon which Dr. Abraham relied were not actual population studies, but rather anecdotal instances involving a single person. In the study Dr. Abraham performed himself, he testified "while smoking causes inflammation, respiratory bronchiolitis, if there was fibrosis there, it may very well be related to additional exposures to dust like silica, aluminum silicates or metals." [CP--Abraham, p. 37]. Dr. Abraham's opinions are rendered in terms of *possibility* rather than *probability*.

The testimony presented by Dr. Abraham regarding the cause of Mr. Hornsby's pulmonary condition does not rise to the level of reasonable medical probability and it does not constitute a preponderance of evidence in favor of allowing this claim. Mr. Hornsby has failed to show on a more probable than not basis his desquamative interstitial pneumonitis, respiratory bronchiolitis and interstitial fibrosis constitute an occupational disease within the meaning of RCW 51.08.140, proximately caused by any exposure at Alcoa Inc.

///

///

|||

#### Summary of Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 4

The superior court did not err in adopting the Board's Conclusion of Law #3 which states: "The Department order dated February 22, 2012 is correct and is affirmed."

## Argument in Response on Assignment of Error No. 4

Mr. Hornsby's Assignment of Error No. 4 is in essence a restatement of his Assignment of Error No. 1, and the same arguments in response apply. The Department order dated February 22, 2012 affirmed an earlier decision by the Department to deny this claim. Claim denial was correctly affirmed by the Board, based on the medical and factual evidence outlined herein.

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